FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/5/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/4/2022 3:31 PM

No. 101345-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 83025-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MIKI M. MULLOR and MICHAL MULLOR, a marital community, Petitioners,

VS.

RENAISSANCE RIDGE HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, a Washington Non-Profit Corporation; and SURESH ANNAMREDDY and DIVYA KIRON ANNAMREDDY, a marital community, Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

II.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS			
III.	CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION			
IV.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 3			
٧.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	5.1.	DEVELOPMENT OF THE RENAISSANCE RIDGE SUBDIVISION		
	5.2.	INTERACTIONS BETWEEN THE PARTIES TO THIS LITIGATION		
	5.3.	PROCEDURAL HISTORY		
VI.	ARGUMENT: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED. 11			
	6.1	CC&RS AS INTEGRAL TO MODERN RESIDENTIAL COMMUNITIES11		
	6.2	THE COURT OF APPEALS SWEEPING ELIMINATION OF CC&RS RULES PRESENTS ISSUES OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST TO OWNERS, BUYERS, AGENTS AND OTHERS CONNECTED WITH RESIDENTIAL REAL		
		ESTATE		
	6.3	THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION IS IN CONFLICT WITH OTHER DECISIONS OF THIS COURT		
	6.4	SUMMARY		

7.	CONCLUSION			
Declaration of Service				
APPENDIX				
Court	of Appeals' Opinion			
Order	Denying Motion for Reconsideration			
Order	Granting Motion to Publish			
Recorded Covenants, Conditions & Restrictions for the				
Re	naissance Ridge Homeowners Association A-19 - A-63			
Motio	n to Publish			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Arnold v. Melani, 75 Wn.2d 143, 152, 437 P.2d 908 (1968) 25
Bach v. Sarich, 74 Wn.2d 575, 582, 445 P.2d 648 (1968) 24
Abbey Rd. Group, LLC v. City of Bonney Lake, 167 Wn.2d 242, 250-51, 218 P.3d 180 (2009) 21
Eastlake Com. Coun. v. Roanoke Assoc, 82 Wn.2d 475, 482, 513 P.2d 36 (1973)
Green v. Normandy Park Community Club, 137 Wn.App. 665, 151 P.3d 1038 (2007)
Hollis v. Garwall, Inc., 137 Wn.2d 683, 974 P.2d 836 (1999) 24
Jensen v. Lake Jane Estates, 165 Wn.App 100, 267 P.3d 435 (2011)
Kelly v. Chelan County, 157 Wn.App 417, 237 P.3d 346 (2010). 21
Lakes at Mercer Island <i>Homeowners Ass'n. v Witrak</i> , 61 Wn.App. 177, 810 P.2d 27 (1991)
Metzner v. Wojdyla, 125 Wn.2d 445, 886 P.2d 154 (1994) 19
Peterson v. Koester, 122 Wn.App. 351, 92 P.3d 780 (2004) 24
Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d 612, 623-24, 934 P.2d 669 (1997)
Viking Props., Inc. v. Holm, 155 Wn.2d 112, 118 P.3d 322 (2005)

Weyerhaeuser v. Pierce County, 95 Wn. App. 883, 976 P.2d 1279 (1999)				
STATUTES				
RCW 58.17.215 12, 19				
RCW 64.04.020 12				
RCW 64.90				
RCW 64.90.505(3)				
LOCAL AUTHORITIES				
KCC 19A.16.070				
KCC 19A.16.080				
OTHER AUTHORITIES				
Mending Wall, Robert Frost (1914)				
Nuisance as a Modern Mode of Land use Control, William Wilson, 46 Wash. Law Review 47 (1970)				
https://www.redfin.com/definition/covenants-conditions-restrictions				
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=enLhOSQ0zV8 14				
RULES				
RAP 13.4(b)(1)				
RAP 18.17(2)(C)(10)				

I. INTRODUCTION.

Robert Frost's classic poem, *Mending Wall* (1914) presents a dialectic regarding a saying attributable to his neighbor's father: "Good fences make good neighbors." In the poem, Frost questions the need for the common wall that the protagonists mend each spring and how the fence creates interactions between the neighbors on either side of it.

Though the suburban subdivision in which this dispute arises is far from the New England farmland in which the poem is set, the questions posed of the propriety of fences are similar. As seen in this case, the mechanism of deciding on the type and construction of walls between neighbors has dramatically changed since 1914. Now, in an urban setting, decisions about fences are made pursuant to established rules, here in written covenants. A resolution of these issues implicates the propriety of other regulated features at Renaissance Ridge.

In this case, the Court of Appeals decision essentially destroys the orderly rules regarding fences between properties, which were consciously established by the subdivision's developer, by permitting unfettered discretion of some property owners to

change unambiguous rules applicable to all owners. Moreover, the Court's decision goes well beyond just the fences at issue by holding that the variance provision in the subdivision's Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions can "bestow sole and exclusive authority on the Committee to consider and grant variances from any restriction, and the Committee's decision is final." Appendix A-1 to A-16 (see Section 3 below). This decision conflicts with settled caselaw of this court interpreting covenants, conditions and restrictions (CC&Rs). Additionally, the precedent set involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this court. The Court should grant Appellant Mullor's Petition for review to clarify such rules, which impact thousands of current and future residential property owners in the state of Washington.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS.

Plaintiffs below, and appellants before the Court of Appeals, Miki M. and Michal Mullor ask this Court to accept review of the published Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part III.

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION.

A copy of the decision is in the attached Appendix at pages A-1 through A-16. A copy of the decision denying appellants' motion for reconsideration is Appendix A-17. The ruling granting the Respondents' motion to publish was granted on September 6, attached hereto at page A-18. The Motion of Respondent Renaissance Ridge Homeowners Association to Publish is Appendix A-64–A-71. The Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions at issue in the case (CP 198 to 242) are found at Appendix A-19 through A-63.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions ("CC&Rs") created for the Renaissance Ridge residential subdivisions regulate fences as follows:

All fences, open and solid, are to meet the standards set by the (Architectural Control) Committee and must be approved by the Committee prior to construction. All [fencing] must be of the style of shown on the attached Exhibit "C," and location approved by the Architectural Control Committee.

CC&Rs at Article XII, Section 4 (CP 215; see A-36).

Does the Architectural Control Committee have authority,

under the "variations" provision of the CC&Rs, to allow a lot owner in the subdivision to construct a fence that differs in style from that shown on Exhibit "C?"

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

5.1. DEVELOPMENT OF THE RENAISSANCE RIDGE SUBDIVISION.

Appellants and Respondents reside in a 116-acre residential subdivision in central King County called "Renaissance Ridge." As required by state and local law, "Renaissance Ridge I" was approved by King County in 1996, creating 300 lots for sale. Plat drawings depicting the lots and streets in the subdivision are found at CP 526-542.

During the required environmental review process, impacts on area wildlife were identified. In recognition of these impacts the King County Hearing Examiner required that a "Wildlife Network Management Plan" be prepared by the appropriate county department. To assure its implementation, the Examiner required that this management plan "be recorded with the covenants, conditions and restrictions for the subject plat" as a part of development controls. CP 1072.

The task of preparing the Renaissance Ridge covenants, conditions and restrictions ("CC&Rs") fell to Eric H.G. Wells, the Vice President of Development for the developer Polygon Northwest, who directed legal counsel in drafting the document. CP 1435. As required, Mr. Wells included the Wildlife Plan in the recorded CC&Rs as Exhibit "C." See Appendix at A-51.

During this time, it was standard practice for Polygon to install fences with the construction of new homes, including Renaissance Ridge. CP 1436. Mr. Wells testified that the CC&Rs were drafted "with the specific intent of (the Renaissance Ridge Developer) to maintain a consistent aesthetic throughout the neighborhood, as it pertained to the fencing of individual lots." *Id.* That "consistent aesthetic" was to adopt and incorporate the fencing plans found in the Wildlife Plan, which provided three possible styles, throughout the entire subdivision. A-35. To assure the maintenance of this "aesthetic," Mr. Wells directed that the CC&Rs include this sentence at Article XII, Section 4: "All [fencing] must be of the style shown on the attached Exhibit "C" and location approved by the Architecture Control Committee." A-36. Exhibit "C"

had drawings of three possible fence styles, two of which were open or split rail fence styles. A-59–A-60. The third style had vertical boards, but with one-half-inch slots between those boards. A-58. The CC&Rs included the requirement that "[A]II fences, open and solid, . . . must be approved by the Committee prior to construction." Article XII, Section 4 (A-36). Article XV, Section 2 required that the Committee "shall review proposed plans and specifications" for "exterior structures to be placed upon the Properties," specifically including "fences." A-40. Mr. Wells signed the CC&Rs as "the Declarant" and "Authorized Agent" of Polygon on May 17, 1999 (A-45–A-46) and they were recorded on May 19, 1999 (A-19). The CC&Rs were "covenants running with the land" and were "binding on all parties and persons claiming under them." A-19.

5.2. INTERACTIONS BETWEEN THE PARTIES TO THIS LITIGATION.

The Appellants Mullor and Respondents Annamreddys
purchased adjacent lots in the Renaissance Ridge subdivision
(Lots 40 and 42) sharing a 58 foot boundary line. CP 533.
However, the Annamreddys' property was elevated at the property

line by a retaining wall about ten feet above the Mullor property.

See CP 114, 135, 533. The Annamreddys' lot had a fence at the top of the retaining wall identical to the third fence style in Exhibit



"C" of the Wildlife Plan, a vertical-board fence with one-half inch slots between boards, consistent with the "consistent aesthetic" of

fencing as described by Mr. Wells. The slotted fence allowed sunlight and air to pass between the properties, an important element with the Annamreddys' property elevated above the Mullors' as shown by the photo above (*See* CP 570, top photo, reproduced above).

In early 2020, because the Annamreddys had failed to maintain it, a portion of the slotted fence between the parties' properties failed and fell over the retaining wall into the Mullor

property. See photo to right (CP 565). Though Mr. Mullor was out of the country, when he learned of the breakdown, he informed the Annamreddys that the fence should be replaced and indicated the new fencing should be in the same slotted style. CP 254, 284.



Renaissance Ridge CC&Rs included the requirement that "All [fencing] must be of the style shown on the attached Exhibit 'C' ...". A-36. Article XII, entitled "LAND USE RESTRICTIONS," also included regulation for other aspects of the physical development of the lots in the subdivision, including such matters as minimum home size, home types, mining, setbacks, driveway materials, and animals. *Id.*

Ignoring the Mullors, the Annamreddys proceeded to install a "privacy" style fence, *without* seeking Board approval. The fence was completed while the Mullors' were still out of the country and

without any notice to them of the imminent construction. CP 556.

The privacy style fence installed by the Annamreddys allowed no air and light and was a foot higher than the original



photographic comparison
between the Annamreddys'
original, but deteriorating
slotted fence and the new

privacy fence is shown in photographs reproduced on this page (CP 570, 571). Again, no written proposal was made to the Committee by the Annamreddys before the replacement fence was installed. CP 93-94.

The Mullors submitted a

detailed, formal complaint to the

Association objecting to the

improper construction of the privacy
fence, which included photographs



of the fence area before and after the Annamreddys' new construction. CP 552-585. About two months later, the Association

emailed the Mullors indicating they were still reviewing the situation and needed more time to contact their lawyer "because there could potentially be large sums of money involved in redoing the neighbor's fencing. . . ." CP 634.

On August 31, 2020, the Association's lawyer sent a letter to the Annamreddys approving the new fencing, though no "proposed plans and specifications" for their fence were ever submitted by them to the Committee. CP 93-94. The Committee did indicate to the Annamreddys that "to reduce the risk of litigation (with the Mullors), one option for you to consider is to build a fence that is the original design or the original height along the property line" which the Association would approve. CP 94. The Annamreddys did not follow up on the suggestion to build a conforming fence.

This litigation followed.

5.3. PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

This litigation was commenced on September 1, 2020, with the filing of a complaint asserting breach of the duty of care by the Renaissance Ridge Homeowners Association and breach of the terms of the CCRs by the Annamreddys, later amended to add a claim for nuisance. CP 1-8, 828-38. On June 28, 2021, the trial court granted summary judgment to the Annamreddys but denied the Association's motion. CP 1023-26. On reconsideration, the trial court entered summary judgment dismissing all claims of Mullor against both defendants. CP 1126-28. The court awarded both defendants their attorney fees. CP 1616-1618, 1619-1621. The Mullors filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 1129-37.

Following briefing, on August 1, 2022, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished decision, affirming the trial court's decision on the interpretation of the covenants, but remanding to the trial court because that court failed to enter findings of fact and conclusions concerning attorney fees. See Appendix at A-1–A-16. The Mullors filed a motion for reconsideration which was denied on August 26, 2022. Appendix A-17. The defendants'/respondents' motion to publish the decision (A-64) was granted on September 6, 2022. Appendix A-18.

- VI. ARGUMENT: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.
 - 6.1 CC&RS AS INTEGRAL TO MODERN RESIDENTIAL COMMUNITIES.

Covenants, conditions and restrictions as a part of subdivision development have become commonplace in residential development and a frequent subject of litigation. A Casetext search shows 45 Washington cases (published and unpublished) that mention CC&Rs.

Review of CC&Rs is also recognized as an integral part of real property sales transactions. Thus RCW 64.04.020 requires disclosure by a seller of improved residential real estate of a variety of title and land use concerns (commonly known as "Form 17") including Question 1.K: "Are there any covenants, conditions or restrictions recorded against the property?"

In 1987, the legislature adopted amendments to the state subdivision statute that made CC&Rs enforceable in the governmental land use process. See RCW 58.17.215. That statute requires that if any person requests "the alteration of any subdivision or the altering of any portion thereof" then:

If the subdivision is subject to restrictive covenants which were filed at the time of the approval of the subdivision, and the application for alteration would result in the violation of a covenant, the application shall contain an agreement signed by all parties subject to the covenants providing that the parties agree to terminate or alter the relevant covenants to accomplish the purpose of the alteration of the subdivision or portion thereof.

As described, if a change to a subdivision is proposed that would violate provisions of recorded CC&Rs, those covenants will control over land use laws unless "all parties subject to the covenants" agree to terminate or alter the covenants. King County codes incorporate these provisions of the statute in land division regulations for all final plats. See King County Code 19A.16.070 and .080.

New legislation, the Washington Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act, RCW chapter 64.90, makes CC&Rs even more important for subdivisions and condominiums created after July 1, 2018. RCW 64.90.505(3) provides:

(3) If the declaration so provides, an association may adopt rules to establish and enforce construction and design criteria and aesthetic standards and, if so, must adopt procedures for enforcement of those standards and for approval of construction applications, including a reasonable time within which the association must act after an

application is submitted and the consequences of its failure to act.

Clarification of applicable standards and interpretation by this Court will provide guidance to covenant drafters, as well as condominium and subdivision boards in the adoption of rules that "establish and enforce construction and design criteria and aesthetic standards." Indeed, the Renaissance Ridge HOA, in their Motion to Publish (A-64) said:

Publishing this opinion will provide guidance to other home owners and members of Homeowner Associations in Washington, such as the Annamreddys and the Mullors, who may disagree regarding the interpretation of certain CC&R restrictions,

Appendix A-69.

In the private community, the widely recognized national real estate organization Redfin describes that when you are subject to CC&RS "an owner gives up certain freedoms in order to be part of a shared community." See

https://www.redfin.com/definition/covenants-conditions-restrictions.

YouTube even has a four minute video explaining CCRs to laymen:

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=enLhOSQ0zV8.

Following the real estate community, Washington courts

have recognized the mutual benefits to property owners of CC&Rs, including enhancing land value:

This is due in large part to a shift in perception regarding restrictive covenants. *See Viking Props.*,155 Wash.2d at 120, 118 P.3d 322. Instead of viewing such covenants as restraints on the free use of land, Washington courts have acknowledged that restrictive covenants "tend to enhance, not inhibit, the efficient use of land." *Viking Props.*,155 Wash.2d at 120, 118 P.3d 322 (quoting *Riss v. Angel*,131 Wash.2d 612, 622, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). Similarly, covenants also tend to enhance the value of the land. *Green v. Normandy Park, Riviera Section, Cmty. Club*,137 Wash.App. 665, 683, 151 P.3d 1038 (2007), *review denied*, 163 Wash.2d 1003, 180 P.3d 783 (2008).

Jensen v Lake Jane Estates, 165 Wn.App 100, 106, 267 P.3d 435 (2011). Riss also makes clear that the court will place "special emphasis on arriving at an interpretation that protects the homeowners' collective interests." 131 Wn.2d at 623-24.

6.2. THE COURT OF APPEALS SWEEPING
ELIMINATION OF CC&RS RULES PRESENTS
ISSUES OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST TO
OWNERS, BUYERS, AGENTS AND OTHERS
CONNECTED WITH RESIDENTIAL REAL ESTATE.

The Court of Appeals decision in this case not only conflicts with the *Riss'* requirement to protect all owners interests, but instead creates a trap for unsuspecting homeowners and prospective buyers of properties with CC&Rs.

Here, the Court of Appeals made an expansive ruling: a "variation" clause will overrule all specific provisions in the Renaissance Ridge CC&Rs. The Court holds that a vague and general authority to grant a "variation" is all encompassing: "This language (the variation clause) bestows sole and exclusive authority on the Committee to consider and grant variance from any restriction, and the Committee's decision is final." Opinion at 10, Appendix page A-10. But the Renaissance Ridge CC&Rs have a very specific standard for fences: "All fencing must be of the style shown on the attached Exhibit 'C,' and location approved by the Architectural Control Committee" (A-36, emphasis supplied). Any lawyer, or any prospective buyer, can turn to Exhibit "C" (reproduced in and recorded with the CC&Rs) and see exactly what is required.

But the Court's ruling is so expansive that it includes "any restriction" in the covenants subject to change or elimination and makes the decision "final." This includes specific restrictions. For example, Article XII, Section 6 provides a clear restriction on mining: "No oil drilling, oil development operations . . . or mining

operation of any kind. . . shall be permitted on or in any lot." A-36. Article XII, Section 5 provides that "No mobile or 'manufactured' home . . . recreational vehicle . . . shall be used on any Lot at any time as a Residence, either temporarily or permanently for residential purposes." A-36 (emphasis supplied). Article XII, Section 9 states: "No animals, except dogs, cats, caged birds, fish tanks, and other small household pets, will be permitted on Lots." A-38. Under the Court's interpretation, oil derricks, RVs and dairy cattle or horses are now allowable in Renaissance Ridge if a "variation" for them is granted for them by the Committee.

But the CC&Rs explicitly provided when the discretion of the Committee could be exercised for a particular use. Thus, Article XII, Section 10 says: "All driveways shall be concrete, unless otherwise approved by the Committee." A-38 (emphasis supplied). Article XII, Section 7, provides for a twenty foot setback from the street, but its last sentence says: "Exceptions to Section 7 are allowed providing Architectural Control Committee approval and the approval by the local jurisdiction." A-36 (emphasis supplied.) The CC&Rs carefully distinguish between provisions where discretion to

modify is provided and where it is not.

The Court of Appeals precedent would have the exceptions swallow the rule.

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