FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/3/2022 1:28 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101345-1

# THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MIKI M. MULLOR and MICHAEL MULLOR, a marital community,

Appellants,

v.

RENAISSANCE RIDGE HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, a Washington Non-Profit Corporation; and SURESH ANNAMREDDY and DIVYA KIRON ANNAMREDDY, a marital community,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS JOINT ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sarah L. Eversole WSBA #36335 Gabriella Wagner WSBA #42898 Wilson Smith Cochran Dickerson 1000 Second Avenue Suite 2050 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-4100

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

#### C. ARGUMENT

This case over a small strip of fencing between two private litigants is not a Supreme Court case. The Mullors cannot meet the RAP 13.4(b) criteria for review, and they barely try to do so.

They cite RAP 13.4(b) once, at page 25 of their petition, claiming that Division I's opinion creates conflicts with published precedent under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Elsewhere, they vaguely invoke RAP 13.4(b)(4), without citing it, claiming twice in their petition that this case involves an issue of "substantial public interest" that this Court should determine. Pet. at 2, 15. Even if adequately briefed, both criteria fail.

# (1) <u>Division I's Decision Creates No Conflicts</u> <u>Warranting Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)</u>

The Mullors are wrong that Division I's well-reasoned opinion creates conflicts in precedent justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). The Court of Appeals merely applied longstanding rules that "[i]nterpretation of covenants is a question of law based on the rules of contract interpretation." Op. at 6 (citing *Bangerter v. Hat Island Cmty. Ass'n*, 199 Wn.2d 183, 189, 504 P.3d 813 (2022)). "The court's primary objective is to determine the intent of the original parties that established the covenants." *Id.* (citing *Bangerter*, *supra*). "In determining

intent, language is given its ordinary and common meaning." *Id.* (quoting *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612, 621, 934 P.2d 669 (1997)). Courts "may resolve any ambiguity as to the parties" evidence the intent by considering of surrounding circumstances." *Id.* (citing *Riss*, 131 Wn.2d at 623)). "The court will place special emphasis on protecting the homeowners' collective interests." Id. "A covenant is ambiguous when its meaning is uncertain or two or more reasonable and fair interpretations are possible." Id. (citing White v. Wilhelm, 34 Wn. App. 763, 771, 665 P.2d 407 (1983)).

Here, Division I applied these settled interpretation principles faithfully. It determined that both sides had reasonable arguments with regard to whether solid cedar style fencing was prohibited throughout the community, or just in sensitive area tracts subject to the community's Wildlife Management Plan. Op. at 7-9.

Those arguments need not be repeated in detail. But generally, the Mullors pointed to testimony from one of the

community's founders and language in the CC&Rs that seemingly references fencing according to the Wildlife Management Plan, which does not include solid cedar style fencing.

The Association and the Annamreddys pointed to language in the CC&Rs state that the Wildlife Management Plan only relates to certain "sensitive area tracts" within the community. Neither the Mullor nor the Annamreddy properties are located in the "sensitive area tracts" identified as subject to the Wildlife Management Plan, nor are they next to any wetlands or wildlife networks described in the plan. And the CC&Rs expressly allow for "open and solid" fencing in the community, as approved by the Committee, showing that the open style fencing discussed in the Wildlife Management Plan does not govern all fencing within the community. And, as part of the community's original construction, many lots in Renaissance Ridge included solid cedar style fences. Since that time, additional solid cedar style fences have been installed over the years, either as new or replacement fencing, in the solid cedar style, at least 52 of the 300 lots have this style. CP 138-40, 326-27, 352-55 (selected pictures), 403-04 (list of properties). The Association and the Annamreddys argued that this showed that even if some fencing restriction applied outside sensitive area tracts, it had been abandoned.<sup>3</sup>

Division I weighed these arguments and considered the evidence and CC&R language and ruled that the existence of an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Property owners have an equitable right to enforce restrictive covenants, but this right is not absolute. Mt. Park Homeowners' Ass'n v. Tydings, 125 Wn.2d 337, 341, 883 P.2d 1383 (1993). When a restrictive covenant has been abandoned, later enforcement becomes inequitable. *Id.* at 342 (citing *Mt*. Baker Club, Inc. v. Colcock, 45 Wn.2d 467, 471, 275 P.2d 733 The abandonment of a restrictive covenant through (1954)). non-enforcement renders the restrictive covenant toothless. *Id.* at 341-42. "The defense of abandonment requires evidence that prior violations by other residents have so eroded the general plan as to make enforcement useless and inequitable." *Id.* "[I]f a covenant which applies to an entire tract has been habitually and substantially violated so as to create an impression that it has been abandoned, equity will not enforce the covenant." Id. at 342 (citing White v. Wilhelm, 34 Wn. App. 763, 769, 665 P.2d Nothing in Division I's opinion upsets this 407 (1983)). precedent.

applicable restriction was ambiguous. That fact-sensitive question created no conflict with published authority, warranting this Court's review.

The same goes for the second part of Division I's analysis – it applied settled contract interpretation principles to determine that the Committee had sole and final authority to grant variances based on the plain language of the CC&Rs. Op. at 9-12. The CC&Rs emphasize that the Committee retains the "sole and exclusive discretion" to approve plans and grant variances to construction that does not meet the community's aesthetic restrictions. CP 151-52 (emphasis in original). Again, such variances can be granted to "(1) overcome practical difficulties, or (2) prevent undue hardship from being imposed on an owner as a result of applying these restrictions, or (3) allow alternative construction upon specific request by an owner." Id. Committee merely needs to determine that the variance "will not (1) detrimentally impact the overall appearance of the development, (2) impair the attractive development of the subdivision, or (3) adversely affect the character of nearby lots to a significant degree." CP 152. No one disputes that the Committee made these determinations in this case.

The Mullors' petition points not to conflicts in published precedent, because there are none. Instead, they raise factual arguments that the trial court and Division I both rejected. For example, they claim that at times the CC&Rs highlight the Committee's discretion over certain items like driveways and setbacks, so therefore the Committee must have no discretion over fending. Pet. at 17-18. But this ignores the CC&Rs which state that "All fences, open and solid, are to meet the standards set by the Committee and must be approved by the Committee prior to construction." CP 148. And, again, the Committee's decisions are *final*, including its decision to grant variances. CP 152 ("[f]or purposes of approval of architectural design requirements, structure placement, analysis of view restrictions and all other aspects of review authority granted to the Committee...the decision of the Committee...shall be final.") (emphasis added). Clearly, the Committee has authority over fencing designs, including the authority to grant variances.

Contrary to the Mullors' arguments, the Committee's authority includes the authority to grant variances after a fence is already constructed, in certain situations. As Division I points out, the plain language of the CC&Rs grants them discretionary authority to grant variances for undue hardship and the Association has discretion to choose whether certain technical violations of rules or procedures warrant an enforcement action. Op. at 11-12. Thus, even if the Annamreddys technically failed to get prior approval in writing4 before constructing the fence, the CC&Rs to not require them to tear it down, obtain written approval, and then construct it again. Such an interpretation Nothing about Division I's logical would be nonsensical. opinion conflicts with published precedent. See, e.g., Dep't of Ecology v. Tiger Oil Corp., 166 Wn. App. 720, 762, 271 P.3d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> No party disputes that the Annamreddys obtained verbal permission prior to constructing the fence.

331 (2012) (We "avoid 'a strained or forced construction" of contract provisions "and avoid interpretations 'leading to absurd results.") (quoting *Eurick v. Pemco Ins. Co.*, 108 Wn.2d 338, 341, 738 P.2d 251 (1987)).

At the end of the day, the Mullors chose to buy their lots subject to CC&Rs that grant an elected Committee the *final*, *discretionary* authority to approve "open and solid" style fencing if the Committee determines that the fencing aesthetically fits with the community and that does not negatively impact neighboring lots. Division I's decision that they are bound to the plain language of the CC&Rs they bought into does not create conflict with any published authority warranting this Court's review.

In fact, Division I's opinion falls squarely in line with Washington precedent. Courts have held many times that discretionary decisions over the aesthetics of a community association are typically not reviewable and left to the broad discretion of a homeowners' board. In *Riss*, 131 Wn.2d at 629,

this Court determined that "decision[s] based upon standards such as *aesthetics and harmony* with the neighborhood are not substantively reviewable in court." Avoiding judicial review of aesthetic decisions makes sense. "Neighborhood harmony and community aesthetics are not easily reducible to neutral legal standards that courts can apply in case after case." *Bangerter*, 199 Wn.2d at 197-98 (Stephens, J., dissenting) (surveying cases from around the country where courts defer to homeowners' associations' aesthetic decisions).

That aesthetic decisions are not substantively reviewable makes sense in the context of case law, but also in the context of the CC&Rs themselves. The inability to distill aesthetic standards down to "neutral...standards" is precisely why the CC&Rs in this case allow for variances in the first place. The CC&Rs recognize that variances may be necessary to "(1) overcome practical difficulties, or (2) prevent undue hardship from being imposed on an owner as a result of applying these restrictions, or (3) allow alternative construction upon specific

request by an owner." CP 151-52. The Committee, elected by the community members, has the "final" say on whether these criteria apply in any given case.

Again, this variance provision runs with the land, just the same as any fencing provision that may or may not apply to the Annamreddy lot. Thus, the Mullors knew full well when they acquired their property that variances could be granted, including fencing variances for several, broad reasons. They also knew the Committee would have the "final" say over granting variances. Not to mention they knew that many lots throughout the community, around one in six, had solid cedar style fencing for years. Division I did not create any conflicts in law when giving effect to the plain meaning of the CC&Rs with respect to final decisions on fencing aesthetics.

This petition is meritless, if not frivolous, and the Court should deny review.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Division I also properly affirmed dismissal of the Mullors' nuisance claim under RCW 7.48.120. Op. at 12-13.

(2) A Private Dispute Over a Small Fence and the Interpretation of a Variance Clause in One Community's CC&Rs Is Not an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Although the Mullors' petition does not actually cite to RAP 13.4(b)(2), their petition appears to try and satisfy this criterion anyway. Pet at 15. They cannot; review is inappropriate on this basis.

The Mullors assert that the Court of Appeals made an expansive ruling that "creates a trap for unsuspecting

The Mullors do not rely on this portion of Division I's opinion in their petition. Still, it is worth noting that Division I properly determined that the "Mullors' nuisance claim was premised on the allegation that the fence was unapproved and violated the CC&Rs. But the fence was not unapproved, and it did not breach the CC&Rs because the Committee granted a variance.' Op. at 12. The Mullors could not show breach of any other duty that would support a nuscience claim because "[a]t common law a [person] has a right to build a fence or other structure on [their] own land as high as [they] please[], although [they] thereby completely obstructs [a] neighbors' light and air, and the motive by which [they are] actuated is immaterial." Karasek v. Peier, 22 Wash. 419, 427, 61 P. 33 (1900). Not that the Mullors could show any harm by way of a blocked view because the fence stands in front of privacy shrubs on the Annamreddys' property. CP 1000-04. There is no basis to grant the petition to review any dismissed claim, including the nuisance claim.

homeowners and prospective buyers of properties with CC&Rs." Id. In support of this argument, the Mullors rely on pure hyperbole. The Mullors argue that Division I's decision is so broad it opens the community up to "oil derricks" or "dairy cattle" if approved by the Committee. Pet. at 16-17. Nonsense. This "parade of horribles" argument has no factual basis – this single fence that conforms to fences found on 52 other lots is nothing like an oil derrick. Nor does this argument have any basis in the language of the CC&Rs, which permit variances only after approval by elected Committee members applying specific criteria that the variance conforms with the community and will not harm nearby lots. The Mullors' hyperbolic arguments have no merit.

Moreover, the standard established by RAP 13.4(b)(4) requires *substantial* public importance. Again, the Mullors chose to buy their lots subject to CC&Rs that grant an elected Committee the final discretionary authority to approve "open and solid" style fencing applying standards listed in the CC&Rs. The

Mullors' remedy for any harm caused by this decision over aesthetics is political, not legal. The Mullors could run for membership on the Committee or Association Board or otherwise campaign to amend the CC&Rs. The consequences of the Mullors buying a lot subject to CC&Rs, and disagreeing with the aesthetic decisions made by the Committee that they participated in electing, does not transform this case into a matter of substantial public importance under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Review is not appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4); this case does not involve issues of substantial public interest. Rather, it involves the application of CC&R language specific to a single Association, and a *single fence* that the Association's elected Committee determined harmonizes with the community, does not negatively impact the Mullors' (or any other) lot, and likely *increases* nearby property values. The Mullors misguided attempt to overrule that "final" decision has wasted enough time, energy, and expense. The Court should deny review.

(3) The Court Should Award Attorney Fees for

### Responding to the Petition

Upon rejecting the Mullors' petition for review, the Court should award attorney fees to the Association and the Annamreddys under RAP 18.1(j). That rule provides:

If attorney fees and expenses are awarded to the party who prevailed in the Court of Appeals, and if a petition for review to the Supreme Court is subsequently denied, reasonable attorney fees and expenses may be awarded for the prevailing party's preparation and filing of the timely answer to the petition for review.

The Court of Appeals awarded the Association and the Annamreddys their attorney fees on appeal as permitted by the CC&Rs. Op. at 15-16. Upon denial of the petition, this Court should likewise award them their attorney fees under RAP 18.1(j) for having to respond to this baseless petition involving a single fence between neighbors that the Association, the final arbiter of this aesthetic decision, approved.

#### D. CONCLUSION

This case involving a single fence and aesthetic decision in a homeowners' association does not meet the criteria for

review under RAP 13.4(b). The Court should deny review and award the Association and the Annamreddys their attorney fees.

This document contains 3,638 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.